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The Hyde BU11d1ng and Annex together present an 1nteresting blend of materials and arch1-
tectura1 styles that is un1que in downtown Spokane. The Hyde Build1ng itself was construc-
ted 1n 1890 1n the center of the burgeon1ng m1ning town of Spokane Falls, on R1verside
Avenue and M111 Street (now Wall Street). The Romanesque Revival style bU11d1ng occupies
the slte of an older, smaller structure Wh1Ch was also known as the Hyde Building. Along
w1th compan10n structures, it was destroyed 1n the great conflagration of August, 1889.
The small but flamboyant Hyde Annex was appended as lavatory space in 1908. Also construc-
ted in 1890 was the T1tle Building which stands adjacent to the Annex on Wall and Sprague
Streets, and the Jamieson Building Wh1Ch faces the Hyde BU11d1ng across Wall. East of the
Hyde BU11ding 1S the Spokane and Eastern Building, erected along w1th Newberry's store
across Riverside Avenue in the mid-wOth Century. In either d1rection, however, are
numerous bU11dings of 19th Century v1ntage w1th slm11ar sty1ist1C treatments; however,
they are generally smaller and less distinguished in appearance.
The Hyde BU11d1ng is a Slx-story Romanesque-Rev1va1 inspired structure of red brick laid
1n a stretcher bond, w1th gran1te, sandstone, and terra cotta trim. The bU11ding is .
117 feet by 95 feet, with a he1ght of 87 feet. The most arresting features of the
build1ng's exter10r are the sandstone spandrels with acanthus leaf des1gns, full-facade
arcades at slxth-story level, and a false-gabled parapet on the Riverside Avenue e1evat10n.
The Wall Street facade is less ornate but is quite similar in composition. The roof of
the Hyde Bulding 1S surfaced w1th tar and gravel and has a skylight located over the
central corr1dor.
Although both the Hyde BU11d1ng and the Annex have been remodelled at street level, the
upper stories of both structures are among the most pleasing 1n the downtown d1strict.
The br1ckwork of the second story is composed of proJect1ng major p1ers and rusticated
minor p1ers which flank each w1ndow open1ng. There are six maJor p1ers on Rivers1de anq
four on Wall Street. The second story windows are rectangular and feature one-over-one
11ght, double-hung sash with granite 11ntels. On the Wall Street facade, the windows
are paired 1n the outermost bays.
The th1rd story differs from the second in a number of important ways. The spandrels
below the windows at this level are corbelled, but the piers are not embellished with
rust1cat10n. The double-hung, flat-headed windows are linked in groups of three on the
R1verside facade by continuous granite lintels. On the Wall Street or west facade,
gran1te 11ntels form a cont1nuous stringcourse across the full elevation. Below the
windows of the centermost bays on R1verside are spandrels faced with ornate acanthus
reliefs in terra-cotta. The windows 1n these bays are crowned with tri-partite elliptical
fanlights. At the very center is an exceptionally narrow window opening with a slngle-
light, round-arched head. Coursed sandstone facing forms the spandrels above these
central arched wmdows , .

At fourth and fifth stories the windows are all rectangular, with one-over-one light,
double-hung sash. A str1ngcourse at fourth-floor level is created by continuous granite
window sills, and forms a major horizontal girth around the building. The principal piers
are ornamented w1th acanthus scross panels of sandstone. The spandrels at f1fth-floor
level are decorated with brickwork corbelling identical to that Wh1Ch occurs at the third
floor.
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All w1ndow open1ngs at the slxth story have round-arched open1ngs. They are llnked, ch1efly
ln groups of three, by terra cotta moldings and thus form continuous arcades across both
facades. These windows feature gran1te 51115, br1ck masonry voussoirs, and corbelled
spandrels below In the centermost bays on R1vers1de Avenue, two large round-arched
w1ndows echo the e111ptica1-arched openings at third-story level. On the Wall Street
elevat10n are arched w1ndows linked by a stringcourse of terra cotta at the impost level.
Above the slxth-story level, a br1ck str1ng-course wraps around the bU11d1ng and defines
the parapet, Wh1Ch is decorated w1th strapwork of brick and a modest corbelled corn1ce.
The maJor p1ers of the R1vers1de facade r1se un1nterrupted to the corn1ce. Although the
plers formerly proJected above the roof11ne as turrets, they now term1nate at the cornice.
A false parapet gable at the centermost bay on this elevation 1S decorated w1th the inscrip-
t i on "Hyde" In terra cotta. Above the inscription 1S an ornamental arched panel of sand-
stone Serv1ng as a keystone above that arch motif is a minor p1er that r1ses to the peak
of the gable. Th1S pier was or1g1nal1y a turret and was crowned w1th an eagle.
AdJo1n1ng the Hyde BU11d1ng on Wall Street 1S the seven-story Hyde Annex. Only 16 feet 1n
width, the Annex measures 60 feet 1n depth and 94 feet 1n height. It occup1es the narrow
site or1g1nal1y 1ntended for use as an alley. The Annex 1S a commerc1a1 style structure
w1th a rich app11que of baroque ornament The purpose of this frivolous b1t of arch1tecture
was anything but fr1vo1ous, add1t1ona1 lavatory space was requ1red in the Hyde Bui1d1ng, so
designer Albert Held created an interest1ng arch1tectura1 monument to the American ObseSS1on
w1th 1ndoor faC111t1es 1n the pre-19l4 per1od.
The Annex 1S constructed of red brick, although the masonry 1S essent1a11y 1nvisib1e beh1nd
a fac1ng of cream colored terra cotta on both p1ers and spandrels. The present-day ground
floor facade of blue, m1rroed t1le and dark oak was created in 1937. An ornate street
clock which part1a11y obscures the f~rst floor cornice was raised in 1937 across the
sidewalk.
At second-floor level 1S a terra-cotta faced entablature embellished w1th a maSS1ve
cartouche. Above the corn1ce, the p1ers r1se un1nterrupted to the seventh floor. Each
story has a single grouping of three double-hung w1ndows. M1nor piers d1V1de the windows,
and two maJor piers tie the ed1fice to the Hyde Building on the north and the Title
Build1ng on the south. Spandrels of terra-cotta are heav11y ornamented w1th fru1t festoons,
a favor1te motif of architect Held. W1th 1tS broad areas of w1ndow surface, the street
facade of the Hyde Annex clearly shows the 1nf1uence of the Chicago school's commerc1al
style.
Above the slxth story of the Annex, a boxed and decorated cornice is surmounted by a
Mansard roof of green t1le, and a baroque-inspired dormer that obscures the roof11ne.
The dormer is also faced with terra cotta. Brackets with rosettes flank mu1t1-paned case-
ment w1ndows. Above the window an even more ornate cartouche adorns the pediment of the
gable. The gable is slightly be11cast - 1tS corn1ce is heavy and richly ornamented.
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The 1nter1or of the Hyde BU1ld1ng is devoted to shops on the street level. A Jewelry store
located 1n the Annex has occupied the space Slnce 1915. The entrance to the bU1ld1ng on
Rivers tde Avenue has been greatly altered over the years. A cast red "qram te" f ac tnq
lines the recessed entry and vestibule. The lobby and stairs are of wh1te marble.
Unt1l 1958, the th1rd though the sixth floors were open to a light well and staircase to
the east of the elevator. A maJor f1re forced remodelling of the lower levels, the chief
alterat10n be1ng the enclosure of the llght and stair wells. The third and fourth stories
do retain the1r or1g1nal floor plan, and a port1on of the offices remain unaltered. The
corridors have been largely refurb1shed w1th new materials.
On the f1fth floor, 40-1nch oak wainscotting, oak doors. and window and door surrounds
rema1n 1ntact as they are on the sixth floor. The offices have four-panelled oak doors
w1th upper llghts and transoms. There are original wash basins 1n at least one room of
each office sU1te.
On the sixth floor, the skyl1ght 1S still the pr1nc1pal source of light for the surrounding
off1ces. Below the glazed open1ng is a dent1l and reel molding. The upper port1on of the
sta1rcase 1S open here, and features a squared newel post with geometr1c des1gns. The
rema1nder of the sta1rcase at lower floor levels 1S enclosed and retains sect10ns of a
rich oak balustrade.
The Annex 1S entered through the south corridor of the Hyde Building. Women's restrooms
are located along the far wall of the narrow annex. A short hallway runn1ng east from the
Annex corridor overlooks the narrow space between the Hyde and Title BU1ld1ngs and leads
to the men's restrooms. A slngle off1ce on each level is generously trimmed with window
and door surrounds of oak.
The Hyde BU1ld1ng was one of the most 1mpressive structures constructed 1n the years
immed1ately following the fire of 1889. Although many other period buildings were taller
and offered greater floor space, 1n terms of arch1tecture the Hyde BU1lding remains today
one of the most stra1ghtforward of the city's 19th century structures. When Joined by
the Annex 1n 1908, 1tS place 1n the arch1tectural heritage of the C1ty was further assured
The comb1nat1on of a crisp, Romanesque style building with a baroque-embellished,
conmerc t a1 style building has added an unespectedly del ightful var iation to Spokane's
commercial streetscape. Wh1le both structures would represent f1ne examples of the1r
style without one another, they are all the more unusual in their Juxtapos1t1on.
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The Hyde BUlldin9 and Annex, situated on the busiest corner of downtown Spokane, are among
the most architecturally interesting buildlngs in the city, combinlng the widely varylng
styles of two master archltects. While the orlginal red brick Romanesque structure was
lmpresslvely spaclous even in 1890, the Edwardian demand for greater luxury created the
need (or additlonal lavaltory space; the seven story alley-width Annex was added for this
sole purpose. Over the years, the building has reflected the changing and stable periods
of Spokane's hlstory.
The structure was erected for its flrSt owner E. B. Hyde ln 1889. The Hyde family was a
pronllnent ploneer famlly lnvolved in real estate development and other C1V1C actlvities
before the turn of the century. Judge Sanuel C. Hyde was the flrst of the family to arrive
ln Spokane, ln the year lB79. His mother, Susan, followed with all her remaining children
ln 1881. Rollln Hyde was, like hlS brother E. B. Hyde, a real estate developer. A sister,
Martha, marrled another entrepreneur, J. B. Blalock.
Eugene B. Hyde erected a number of important buildings durlng the 1880s. Most of them were
destroyed ln the dlsastrous flre of lB8Q. Among those bUlldi~gs was the flrst Hyde block,
a three-story structure on the southeast corner of Mill and Rlverslde. When lt burned in
1889, Hyde rebuilt it to its present beauty and elegance. In the same year 'lollin Hyde
constructed a bUllding bearing his name (also called the Chamber of Commerce BUllding and
presently known as the Fernwell), three blocks east on Riverside.
E. B. Hyde was the first city marshall of Spokane, Chief of Pollce and Chief of the Volunteer
Flre Department. He was a delegate to the territorial council and to the Republlcan conven-
tlon, as well as a member of the state senate ln 1889.' His maJor fortune was an lnvestment
as prlnclpal stockholder in the Citizens Natlonal Bank. When the bank failed ln 1893, he
suffered severe flnancial reverses. However, hlS fortune was large enough that he in part
recouped hlS losses. At hlS death ln 1917 in Los Angeles, he still owned a buildlng ln
Spokane's business distrlct.
Durlng the reconstruction of Spokane ln 1889, Hyde erected a brickyard on Hangman Creek to
supply structural brlck for the new buildlngs. His own building was constructed uSlng thlS
brlck for load-bearing walls and imported St. LOU1S pressed brick for the facade. This
addit ional cost was typtca l of the care Hyde expended. I~hllemost rebuilt structures of the
same helght cost around $80,000, the Hyde Building cost closer to $100,000. It remained
one of the most admired structures in the city from 1890 to the First World War' The Hyde
B~ock "s one of the big R~veps~de stpuctupes . . . . it ~s a fine bui~ing of good matep~al
and hell'sto make Rivepside Avenue a noblq built thoroughfare. (Spokesman Revrew, October 6,
1897, p.5). As one of the most substantial buildings in the city, it offered more offlce
space than any other ln the heart of Spokane, until 1900 when the Empire State Buildlng was
completed. Because of ltS Slze lt was used as the U. S. Dlstrict Court from shortly aftercompletion untll 1898.
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The archItect for the structure was William J. Carpenter of London, England. His success
during his brIef resIdence 1n Spokane (1888-1891) is measured In the number of fine
bU11d1ngs of hIs design that remain. Included among these are the restaurant section of
the Davenport Hotel (807 Sprague-Wi1son-C1ark BU11ding, 1889), the M111er Building (808
W. Sprague, 1890), the Loewenberg Brothers Store (Couer d'Alene Hotel (W. 535 Spokane Falls,
1890), and the f1nest Queen Anne House in Browne's Addition, the Loewenberg Mansion (1923
W. F1rst Avenue, 1889). L1tt1e is known about Carpenter's career prior to 1888 or after
1891.
In comnon wi th many early off ice buildings, the Hyde Building permitted the use of offices
as resIdences. In a cIty predominately male and sIngle, young men often lIved in the1r
offices. The d1gn1ty of the Hyde BUl1d1ng was enhanced by the fact that the U. S. Distr1ct
Court was located on the fourth floor for many years. While Mill Street had a SIngularly
bad reputat10n durIng th1S per1od, the Hyde BuildIng remained relatIvely reputable simply
by havIng the Court occupy one floor.
Today a prest1g1ous and busy 10cat1on such as Wall Street (or1gina11y Mill) and Rlvers1de
Avenue would preclude the rental of any but qualIty shops on the first floor, th1S certaInly
was not true 1n the 1890s. From 1890 to 1915, at least one of the major ground floor occu-
pants was a saloon. In this case, the patronage from the legal profession gave the saloon
some d1gn1ty as was reflected In 1tS name - the Court Saloon. At the turn of the century
Spokane was a rowdy CIty, w1th a reputation for WIldness exceeded only by San Francisco's.
Reform forces cont1nua11y fought a losing battle with saloons, dance halls and roughnecks
on one of the worst skid roads 1n the West. In 1890 the saloon In the Hyde BUIldIng was
one of 90 1n a C1ty of less than 30,000. The year 1900 brought over 115 saloons, and 233
were 1n bus1ness in 1908, when the Annex to the Hyde BU11ding was completed with an
add1tiona1 saloon on the ground floor called the 'Court Annex'. At the same time the C1ty
had a popu1at1on of 110,000. The saloons were growing as rap1dly as the burgeonIng city.
In 1908 the trust whIch owned the Hyde BUIlding remodelled 1t. The architect for the task
was Albert Held, a d1st1ngu1shed Spokane arch1tect since 1889. Held was born in New U1m,
M1nnesota 1n 1866, and w1th two years technical tra1ning at the UniverSIty of M1nnesota,
he arrIved 1n Spokane w1th many other amblt10uS young draughtsmen. Serv1ng for a brief
time with the firm of Hermann Preusse, he rece1ved tra1ning that would enable h1m to become
one of Spokane's most successful architects. Seldom as fanciful as his chief competitor,
K. K. Cutter, Held's bU11dlngs display a number of styles reflecting the varied tastes of
hi s cli ente l. Among the many bui Idlnqs he des iqned which are st i ll standi nq , are the
Holly-Mason Building, the Home Telephone Building, North Central High School, Webster and
LIncoln Schools, the Realty BU1ld1ng, Knickerbockers Apartments, Breslin Apartments, San
Marco Apartments, the Leo Long home, and the M. James Clark mansion. His prestige in
Spokane was extremely h1gh until his death in 1924.
In addItIon to remodellIng the Hyde BUIlding, Held added the seven story Annex which wlth ItS
narrow alley WIdth was a fantasy unIque In Spokane's exper1ence. Although one of thesmallest structures ever designed by Held, the Annex dId exhibit characterIstics sImIlar to
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hTS other desTgns. For instance, Held's fruit festoons were also used in his design for
the Home Telephone BUIlding on South Howard Street. On the upper levels of the Hyde BUIlding
and Annex, Held matched the use of oak and blended the two structures In a harmonious but
non-ImItatIve manner.
On the fIrst floor, the 'Court Saloon' was lInked to the 'Court Annex'. The two bars were
among the more popular in the cIty. But in 1914 the pattern of the life In Spokane was
lnterrupted. ProhibItIon came early to Spokane. Enacted In 1914, the local option of the
CIty took effect on January first, 1916. The tIme gap permItted many of the bars to close
before requIred. By late 1915 the saloons in the Hyde BUIlding had been removed and theIr
store fronts remodeled. In the same year, SartorI Jewelers took occupancy of the Annex,
a site they have contInued to occupy since that time.
The other occupants of the buildIng have not changed greatly over the years. Rogers and
Rogers Realty have occupied space In the building even longer than SartorI. The major
occupants have been doctors, dentIsts, and beautIcians, but princIpally jewelry manufacturers
Major alteratIon to the InterIor followed a three-alarm fIre In 1958. The fIre swept through
the lower four floors, fed by false walls and numerous hollow spaces In the structure. The
occupants of the bUIldIng were rescued by an elevator operator who kept the car movlng up
and down until all were evacuated. After the fire the lower four floors were remodeled and
the lIght and stairwells enclosed.
Many of Spokane's older bUIldIngs are closed above the street; however, the Hyde BUIlding IS
still In use There are three contrIbutIng factors whIch have allowed it to remaIn In use
Central BusIness PropertIes, owner and manager of the Hyde and other structures, IS itself
an occupant of the Hyde BUlldlng. Secondly, the fire enabled the owners to remodel, thereby
encouragIng contInued occupancy. ThIrdly, the unfortunate closure of the Jamieson and other
nearby commercIal bUIldIngs have brought additional occupants Into the Hyde.
WhIle many people In Spokane are more familiar with newer structures such as the FidelIty
Building, Parkade and the Hotel Sheraton, it 1S widely recognized that the Hyde is a
superIor example of Spokane's most historic era In buildIng.
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"Story of a Year". Spokane Dally Chronicle, August 4, 1890, p.6.

"The Wonderful Cr ty of Spokane" - Spokane Dally Chroru c l e , December 31, 1890, p.9.

"To But ld Seven Stories on Wall". Spokesman-Review, March 27,1907.

Western Archltect, 1908.
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ROAD CLASSIFICATION

47'"37'30"
117 '"22'30"-'----4:D...<l-IL!(L£., _

Primary highway,
hard surface
Secondary highway,
hard surface

Interstate Route

Light-duty road. hard or
improved surface

7000 FEET=
KILOMETRE

WA.SHINGTON •

Unimproved road ~="'======
U. S. Route 'State Route.~

SPOKANE NW, WASH.
NW/4 SPOKANE J 5' QUADRANGLE

N4737.5-WII722.517.5

QUADRA.NGLE lOCA nON
os
N. VIRGINIA 22092
REQUEST

1974

AMS 2579 III NW-SERIES vas:
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